Filed 02-03-2022

Page 1 of 49

FILED 02-03-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP1590-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTONIO G. RAMIREZ, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILBUR W. WARREN III, AND THE HONORABLE DAVID P. WILK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

In 2001, Defendant-Respondent Antonio G. Ramirez, Jr., was convicted upon a jury trial of multiple crimes resulting from his November 1998 and September 1999 sexual assaults of his stepdaughter M.G. The trial included out-of-court statements that then eight-year-old M.G. made to medical personnel and law enforcement.

In 2005, Ramirez's postconviction attorney filed a Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 motion raising several claims. A claim that admission of M.G.'s statements violated the Confrontation Clause under *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), was not among them.

In 2020, the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit granted Ramirez's petition for a writ of habeas corpus, concluding that postconviction counsel was ineffective for not raising the *Crawford* claim, which was "clearly stronger" than the other claims counsel actually raised. As a result, this Court on the State's motion reinstated Ramirez's direct appeal rights.

In 2021, Ramirez filed a Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 motion raising two claims. He argued that (1) M.G.'s statements were testimonial and thus their admission violated *Crawford*; and (2) the circuit court denied his right to a fair trial by barring Ramirez from impeaching a State's witness over a grant of immunity the witness received in exchange for his testimony. The circuit court granted Ramirez's motion and ordered a new trial on both grounds.

1. To decide whether the circuit court properly ordered a new trial on the *Crawford* claim, this Court must answer two questions.

a. M.G. made most of the statements at issue to emergency room medical providers on the night of the September 1999 assault. Under the Wisconsin Supreme Court's four-factor test in *Mattox*, were these statements of the eight-year-old victim to emergency room staff shortly after the assault *not* testimonial because they were *not* made for the primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for testimony?

This Court should answer yes.

b. Was the admission of M.G.'s testimonial statements made to law enforcement the next day, which merely duplicated her emergency room statements, harmless error?

This Court should answer yes.

2. Was the circuit court's 2001 decision to bar impeachment of a State's witness—whose testimony was duplicated by two other witnesses, and whose reasonable range of answers was limited by certain facts—also harmless error?

This Court should answer yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The issues presented may be resolved on the briefs by applying established law to the facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charges and Pretrial

In September 1999, Antonio Ramirez was charged with multiple offenses, including two counts of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13, first-degree sexual assault causing great bodily harm, and child enticement. (R. 527:1–2.) The charges were based on allegations that Ramirez sexually assaulted his stepdaughter, M.G., then seven and eight years old, in November 1998 and September 1999. (R. 527:2–3.)

According to the criminal complaint, on September 5, 1999, M.G.'s mother Cynthia Ramirez ("Cynthia") stepped out briefly to run an errand, leaving M.G. and her five-year-old brother A.R. alone with Ramirez. (R. 527:2.) Ten minutes later, Cynthia returned to the apartment to find the front door locked. (R. 527:2.) She unlocked it and pushed on the door to enter, but it was blocked by the chain lock. (R. 527:2.) Suspecting something was wrong, Cynthia kicked in the door and found Ramirez standing in M.G.'s bedroom doorway pulling up his pants. (R. 527:2.) Cynthia told police she then saw M.G. on the toilet "with [a] scared look on her face." (R. 527:2.) Cynthia said that she immediately confronted Ramirez, and they began to argue. (R. 527:2.) Cynthia reported that Ramirez physically assaulted her and A.R. and attempted to prevent her from leaving the apartment with the children.¹ (R. 527:2.) Eventually, a relative picked up Cynthia and the children outside the apartment and drove to the relative's residence, where M.G. told Cynthia that Ramirez "had touched her like he's not suppose[d] to." Cynthia called the police. (R. 527:3.)

An officer arrived and drove M.G. and Cynthia to the Kenosha Hospital and Medical Center emergency room for M.G. to be seen for a sexual assault examination. (R. 527:3.) During the examination, M.G. described the assault that happened earlier that night. (R. 527:3.) She also disclosed

¹ Based on these particular allegations, Ramirez was also charged in the complaint with physical abuse of a child, misdemeanor battery for assaulting Cynthia, and false imprisonment. (R. 375:1–2; 527:1–2.) Cynthia recanted at trial and Ramirez was acquitted of these charges. (R. 420:1; 421:1; 422:1.) Ramirez was also acquitted of resisting an officer for alleged conduct occurring when police tried to take him into custody. (R. 423:1.)

that a prior incident in which she had been treated for a serious vaginal injury had not been caused by a fall in the bathtub, as she had reported, but by Ramirez "trying to put his pee pee in her." (R. 527:3.)

Police arrested Ramirez at the apartment on the night of September 5. (R. 527:4.)

Cynthia ultimately did not cooperate with the prosecution, recanting in a series of letters to the court in which her story shifted over time. (R. 355:1–8; 364:1–12; 367:1–12; 570:1–10.) Initially, Cynthia told the court that M.G. was just tired and confused when she told authorities that she had been assaulted, and that M.G. had never said anything like that to her. (R. 367:3–5.) Several months later, Cynthia said that she, Cynthia, made up the entire story out of rage and jealously over Ramirez's drinking and infidelity, and that she had coached her young children to lie to the police and medical personnel. (R. 364:1–7.)

Dr. Michael Schellpfeffer treated M.G. for her November 1998 vaginal injuries. At that time, M.G. reported that the injuries were caused by a fall on the edge of the bathtub, and Cynthia said she knew of no abuse in the home. (R. 551:146–48, 152.) At trial, Dr. Schellpfeffer would testify that the internal vaginal laceration M.G. suffered was atypical of a bathtub "straddle" injury. (R. 551:149–50.) But he ultimately accepted the family's version, recording the cause of injury as a bathtub fall. (R. 551:148.) He did not report the injury as a case of suspected abuse. (R. 551:157.)

Before trial, Dr. Schellpfeffer testified at a hearing that he had felt "[s]ubtly" intimidated by the district attorney. (R. 459:29–30.) The DA had previously commented that the doctor, as a mandatory reporter under Wis. Stat. § 48.981, should have reported the 1998 injury as suspected abuse. (R. 459:29–30.) But the doctor testified that the DA's comments had had no effect on how he would testify at trial. (R. 459:34.) At the same hearing, a lawyer retained by Dr. Schellpfeffer told the court that he had advised the doctor that he faced some potential criminal exposure for not reporting the incident. (R. 459:21, 30.)

At a subsequent hearing, the district attorney advised the court that Dr. Schellpfeffer would be offered immunity for his testimony in the case. (R. 460:25.) The district attorney said that the idea was Dr. Schellpfeffer's attorney's. (R. 460:32–33.) The district attorney argued at the hearing that it would be improper for defense counsel to reference the grant of immunity at trial, citing *State v. Heft*, 185 Wis. 2d 289, 517 N.W.2d 494 (1994). (R. 460:25–29.) The defense objected, but the court agreed with the district attorney and directed defense counsel not to mention the immunity grant. (R. 460:35.)

Trial

The case was tried to a jury March 5–9, 2001. (R. 462:2–7.)

Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin's examination of M.G. The State's first witness, Registered Nurse Donna Karpowicz-Halpin of the Kenosha Hospital and Medical Center, testified about her examination of M.G. for a sexual assault on the night of September 5, 1999. (R. 462:92, 94.) The nurse testified that when she first saw M.G. upon her arrival at the emergency room around 9 p.m., M.G. "was very distraught, scared just very, very frightened." (R. 462:96.) The nurse said that M.G. was accompanied in the examination room by her mother and a police officer. (R. 462:95.) The mother, Cynthia, who also appeared "very upset," told the nurse that M.G. was there to be seen for a suspected sexual assault. (R. 462:96–97.) Cynthia told the nurse that she had come home earlier that night to find the door locked, broke down the door, then saw her husband coming out of M.G.'s bedroom pulling up his pants, and M.G. on the toilet with a bad look on her face. (R. 462:97.)

The nurse testified that she began the examination by asking M.G. if she was in any pain and doing a general physical exam. (R. 462:100–01.) The nurse said that, after spending probably "30 to 45 minutes" building a rapport with the "frightened" eight year old, she began to ask about the assault. (R. 462:100–01.)

In response, M.G. disclosed that "her dad had taken off her pants and [then] he took off his pants, and she was laying on her belly on the bed." (R. 462:102.) The child said that Ramirez then "put his pee-pee by her butt . . . like on top of her." (R. 462:102.) M.G. said that, afterword, "she felt something by her butt, so she went into the bathroom and . . . wiped herself with some tissue and threw it in the wastepaper basket." (R. 462:102–03.) The nurse testified that Cynthia reacted by "crying" and "[h]ugging" M.G., and encouraging her to "tell us the truth." (R. 462:102.)

The nurse asked M.G. if this was the first time something like this had happened. (R. 462:104.) M.G. said that it was not. (R. 462:104.) According to the nurse, Cynthia then asked her daughter if, "when she went to [the hospital] for her vaginal bleeding [in November 1998,] did she really hurt herself on the bathtub," as M.G. had said. (R. 462:104.) "[M.G.] said: No, she hadn't." (R. 462:104.)

The nurse continued: "[W]hen [M.G.] finally said, no, that it didn't happen that way, she started crying and then mom started crying." (R. 462:104.) "[T]he child . . . said" to her mother "that dad had—was trying to put his pee-pee inside of her and that's how she got cut. That it wasn't the bathtub." (R. 462:104.) M.G. also said that Ramirez threatened to hurt "her little brother, her mom or her grandma" if she told anyone about what he had done. (R. 462:105.)

11

Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin testified that a police officer was at least initially present in the examination room (R. 462:95) but did not mention the officer engaging with anyone in the room during the examination. After M.G. was discharged, the nurse gave a statement to police. (R. 462:98; 491:1.)

Dr. Siegel's examination of M.G. Emergency Physician Suzanne Siegel testified that she evaluated M.G. after Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin's examination. (R. 551:21.) Dr. Siegel said she entered the examination room and spoke with M.G. and her mother. (R. 551:21.) The doctor said that Cynthia recounted breaking down the door and finding M.G. in the bathroom "wiping herself" and her husband leaving M.G.'s room pulling up his pants. (R. 551:22.) The doctor said she then asked M.G. what happened, and M.G. responded that her father had "put his pee-pee by her. And she pointed to her buttock area." (R. 551:23.) Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin was also present for the doctor's examination. (R. 462:105.)

Dr. Siegel said she "[i]nitially . . . started with a general exam; her ears, her mouth, her chest, abdomen and then we proceeded to the vaginal exam." (R. 551:24.) The doctor testified that she observed "a milky discharge coming from [the child's] vaginal area" not normally seen in a small child, and that the child's vaginal area was "irritated" and "red." (R. 551:24.) The doctor testified she used a "Woods lamp" to test for the presence of seminal fluids. (R. 551:24.) She said that when she applied the lamp's blue light, M.G.'s "legs . . . lit up and that suggests seminal fluids." (R. 551:24.) The doctor said she obtained swabs from the child's vaginal and rectal areas and "sent some as evidence and we sent some to our hospital laboratory." (R. 551:24–25.)

Based on the unusual vaginal discharge, irritation in the vaginal area, the results of the Woods lamp test, and M.G.'s report, the doctor concluded that the examination from that night was consistent with sexual misuse. (R. 551:28.) Dr. Siegel said that, on the night that she examined M.G., she also reviewed medical records from M.G.'s November 1998 visit that were transmitted to her from St. Catherine's Hospital. (R. 551:25, 31.) Dr. Siegel said that the vaginal tear described in those records was also "consistent with sexual misuse." (R. 551:25.) Dr. Siegel testified that M.G.'s November 1998 injury was inconsistent with M.G.'s self-report of falling in the tub. (R. 551:34.) Had she suffered a "straddle" injury in which she had fallen on an object, the doctor explained, "I would expect . . . [to] see bruising, swelling. And there is no record of that here." (R. 551:35.)

Dr. Siegel testified that M.G. and Cynthia were present when she entered the examination room (R. 551:21), and she did not reference a police officer in her testimony.

The responding officer's involvement in the examinations. Police Officer George Larsen testified that he was dispatched to a residence in the city of Kenosha where he met Cynthia Ramirez and another woman. (R. 551:126.) The officer said the women were excited and crying. (R. 551:126–27.) The officer testified that Cynthia told him she believed that, within approximately the past hour, her husband had sexually assaulted her daughter. (R. 551:127.) She described breaking the chain lock to get into the apartment, then finding Ramirez coming out of M.G.'s bedroom pulling up his shorts and seeing M.G. on the toilet. (R. 551:127–28.) According to the officer, Cynthia also said that her son, A.R., told her that "daddy had [M.G.] on the bed face down, and there were boogers on the bed." (R. 551:128.)

Officer Larsen testified that Cynthia wished to pursue a complaint regarding Ramirez's physical assault of her (Cynthia) that night and consented to a search of the family's apartment. (R. 551:129.) The officer then told Cynthia that they needed to go to the hospital "to do a rape kit," and he drove M.G. and Cynthia to the emergency room for the child to be examined. (R. 551:129, 138.) At the hospital—the officer did not specify when this occurred in relation to the nurse's and doctor's examinations—he gave M.G. a "Shoney bear" to calm her down, and she showed him on the bear where Ramirez had touched her. (R. 551:130, 132.) He said she told him that her father had put her face down on the bed, "and that he put his private by her pooh-pooh." (R. 551:130.) She also said that she went to the bathroom to wipe herself afterword "and there was brown stuff on there." (R. 551:130.) Upon receiving this information, the officer said he stepped out ("she was in the hands of Miss Halpin") to advise officers to check for evidence of the wiping in the bathroom garbage can. (R. 551:130.)

At various points in his testimony, Officer Larsen indicated that he was not present for much of the examinations. When asked if he was there when M.G. disclosed that Ramirez was responsible for her November 1998 injuries, the officer said that he received this information second-hand from Cynthia, who relayed what M.G. had said. (R. 551:130.) When asked if he was there when the Woods lamp was used, he said he was not "because her clothes were off and I stepped out for that." (R. 551:132–33.)

DNA evidence of the September 1999 assault. Vaginal and rectal swabs from Dr. Siegel's examination, as well as the child's underwear, and tissues recovered from the bathroom wastebasket, were submitted to the Wisconsin State Crime Lab. (R. 463:100–01.) All tested positive for the presence of semen, sperm cells, or both. (R. 463:101–06.)

Laura Kwart, a forensic scientist in the DNA analysis unit of the crime lab, testified that the semen and sperm cell DNA matched Ramirez's DNA. (R. 463:96, 106–110.) Kwart testified that there was a one in 20 trillion chance that the DNA evidence from the tissues and the underwear belonged to a Hispanic male other than Ramirez, and a one in 400,000 chance that the DNA found on the vaginal swab belonged to a Hispanic male other than Ramirez. (R. 463:106–10.) Dr. Guinn's and Dr. Schellpfeffer's testimony about the November 1998 assault. Dr. Judy Guinn of the Child Protection Center of Children's Hospital of Wisconsin, an expert in the medical examination and treatment of child victims of sexual abuse, testified about the nature of M.G.'s November 1998 injuries. (R. 463:119–20.) She explained that a "straddle injury" occurs when a person falls onto an object with their legs spread out. (R. 463:123–24.) She testified that straddle injuries are typically external injuries, usually to the upper genital area, and one-sided. (R. 463:124.)

Examining Dr. Schellpfeffer's treatment records, Dr. Guinn testified that M.G.'s vaginal laceration described therein was "inconsistent with a straddle injury." (R. 463:125–26, 130.) Rather, she testified that M.G.'s injury was "internal," and indicative of "penetrating trauma." (R. 463:126.) She testified that the injury was "diagnostic for sexual abuse." (R. 463:127.) The doctor added that the injury was inconsistent with the child's self-report of falling on the lip of the bathtub, which would have resulted in "more external injury" to the genitals. (R. 463:127.)

Dr. Michael Schellpfeffer, an obstetrician and gynecologist, testified that he treated M.G. in the emergency room on November 8, 1998. (R. 551:141–42.) The doctor recalled that the child was accompanied by her mother. (R. 551:142.) The report the doctor received about M.G.'s case was that Cynthia "had been called from work to come to attend to [an] injury to her daughter, which was said to be a straddle injury on a bathtub." (R. 551:146.)

When Dr. Schellpfeffer initially examined the child, she was "active[ly] bleeding" from a laceration to the perineum, and there was "a significant amount of blood" on a hospital pad that had been placed under her. (R. 551:142–43.) The doctor said he knew that the cut would require surgery. (R. 551:142–43.) After the child was placed under anesthesia, the doctor conducted a fuller examination and discovered a second laceration of "2 to 2-and-a-half centimeters" "into the vagina." (R. 551:144.) The doctor surgically repaired the lacerations. (R. 551:144–45.)

Dr. Schellpfeffer testified that the lacerations were "not at all typical of . . . straddle injures that [he had] . . . taken care of," which usually involved external bruising. (R. 551:149–50.) M.G. had lacerations, which the doctor testified were "very much like an episiotomy" and "certainly consistent possibly with a penetrating injury." (R. 551:144–45.) But the doctor had asked Cynthia if her daughter could have been sexually abused, and Cynthia said she knew of no such abuse. (R. 551:145, 146, 152.) The family reported that M.G. had fallen in the bathtub. (R. 551:146, 148.) So, the doctor explained, he wrote at the time that M.G. had a "perineal laceration from straddle injury" sustained in the purported bathtub accident. (R. 551:148.)

On cross-examination, Dr. Schellpfeffer acknowledged that, if he was convinced that M.G. had been sexually abused at the time, he would have reported the suspected abuse to authorities, consistent with his duties as a mandatory reporter. (R. 551:157.)

Detective Gregory's testimony about his interviews of Cynthia, M.G. and A.R. Detective John Gregory, the State's final witness, testified that he interviewed Cynthia on the night of September 5, 1999. (R. 551:162.) The detective testified that Cynthia was "very upset, crying," and said that she had learned from M.G. that her husband had caused the vaginal lacerations to M.G. in 1998. (R. 551:162.) The detective said that Cynthia also described forcing open the door and breaking the chain link to get into her home, finding her husband coming out of the child's bedroom pulling up his shorts, and seeing her daughter in the bathroom. (R. 551:163– 64.) Detective Gregory said that, on September 6, he obtained a more detailed statement from Cynthia that was consistent with the previous night's statement. (R. 551:164.)

Page 17 of 49

The detective also interviewed M.G. on September 6 and testified that she reported the following. (R. 551:167–68.) Ramirez told M.G.'s brother A.R. to watch television in Cynthia's room, then took M.G. into her own bedroom. (R. 551:168, 173.) Ramirez took off his clothes and had M.G. do the same. (R. 551:174–75.) Ramirez then had M.G. lie face down on the bed and rubbed his private parts against her butt. (R. 551:174–75.) When the detective asked about her November 1998 injuries, M.G. responded simply, "Dad did it." (R. 551:188.)

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