Filed 05-04-2022

Page 1 of 36

FILED 05-04-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS - DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP001590

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTONIO G. RAMIREZ, JR.

Defendant-Respondent.

On notice of appeal from an order entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable David P. Wilk, presiding

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

testimonial. The same knowledge can reasonably be imputed to a typical five-year-old: that the police aid in prosecuting crimes, and that telling a police officer about a crime may result in a person going to jail.

A (non-emergency) interview by a police officer at the police department about past criminal acts is the Platonic ideal of a testimonial situation. Clark, 576 U.S. at 243 (2015) ("statements by a witness during police questioning at the station house" are testimonial); Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68 (the term "applies "testimonial" at a minimum to police interrogations.") This is true for adults and children alike. Daniel See D. Blinka, Wisconsin Evidence § 802.302 (4th ed.) (even for young children "if the question is asked by a police officer, the answer is very likely testimonial").

D. M.G.'s statements at the hospital were testimonial.

When M.G. was at the hospital on Labor Day 1999, she made statements both about what she said had occurred earlier that day and about an incident that happened in November of 1998. The two sets of statements carry some analytical differences, but this brief will begin by discussing what they have in common.

First, they came about as the result of a police investigation. They were made either to investigating officers or to medical staff at the hospital where police said M.G. "had to go" to "be examined for a sexual assault"—and where even the statements she

made to the nurse were immediately memorialized and turned over to the police. (463:60; 462:97; 551:129; 462:98; 491). Officer Larsen was not aware of any physical injuries to M.G.; his motivation, which brought about M.G.'s presence in the hospital room, was plainly the criminal investigation.

Many cases recognize that statements made under these sorts of circumstances are testimonial. See, e.g., See, e.g., Bobadilla v. Carlson, 575 F.3d 785, 793 (8th Cir. 2009) (child victim's statements to a worker testimonial social were because the interrogation was "initiated by a police officer to obtain statements for use during a criminal investigation"); State v. Arnold, 933 N.E.2d 775, 784 (Ohio 2010) (some four-year-old rape statements by victim to social worker in "child advocacy center" were testimonial); Hartsfield v. Com., 277 S.W.3d 239, 245 (Ky. 2009) (statements to nurse were testimonial where nurse's questioning involved past events, was not related to an ongoing emergency, and took on the nature of a formal interview); State v. Hooper, 176 P.3d 911, 917 (Idaho 2007) (videotaped statements by six-year-old victim to nurse and forensic examiner were testimonial, as interview was geared toward gathering evidence).

Second, all the statements concerned incidents in the past, rather than an ongoing threat: Ramirez had already been arrested. As the federal district court put it, "[t]he statements were not spontaneous and were not made in the context of an ongoing emergency." *Ramirez*, 413 F. Supp. 3d at 820; *see also* *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 827 (distinguishing between statements reporting an ongoing emergency and those establishing "some past fact").

Finally, all were made by a child substantially older than the three-year-old in *Clark*: a child who could reasonably be expected to know that statements to the police (and others to whom the police have directed them) can be used to secure criminal punishment. It shouldn't be overlooked that the state has *conceded* that M.G.'s age didn't mean she couldn't make testimonial statements. As the Seventh Circuit noted, the state acknowledged there, as it does here, that she made testimonial statements the following day to Detective Gregory. "This concession suggests that M.G., despite her young age, capable of understanding that her other was statements could have been made for the primary purpose of prosecution as well." Ramirez, 963 F.3d at 615.

Considering first the statements about the 1998 incident, they were both the most crucial and the most clearly testimonial. They were crucial because these statements were the only evidence tying Ramirez to the alleged 1998 assaults; they were plainly testimonial because they had little or no connection to medical care. The state claims that *all* the hospital statements had a primary purpose of obtaining or providing medical treatment. But it can't explain how this is true for questions and answers about things that had happened nearly a year earlier. Tellingly, it simply asserts, as fact, that the nurse's inquiry about

Page 27 of 36

earlier events was an attempt "to ascertain the extent of M.G.'s physical injuries and psychological trauma." It then cites a page of trial transcript which contains no trace of any such testimony by the nurse. App. 33, citing (462:104).² Absent the state's mind-reading, there are no facts to sustain its contention that questions about a long-ago incident—as part of a police-instigated "examinat[ion] for sexual assault" were not primarily geared to establishing "past events." *See Davis*, 547 U.S. at 827; *Hartsfield*, 277 S.W.3d at 245.

Regarding M.G.'s statements about things that had happened earlier that day, some may, as the state says, have had the primary purpose of facilitating medical treatment, at least from the nurse's perspective: for example, the answers to questions about whether she was hurt and what had caused any injury. See Ramirez, 413 F. Supp. 3d at 820-21. On the other hand, some of the nurse's questions were not clearly for this purpose: for example, where the assault happened, or whether anything like it had happened before. See id. at 821; (462:102-03). And it's important to note the physical product of M.G.'s time in the kit," hospital: a "rape assembled by the medical professionals, to be sent to the state crime lab for testing. (551:33). There can be no argument that the collectors of this evidence weren't substantially engaged in the investigation of crime at the state's behest.

 $^{^2}$ This is not the state's only foray into the thoughts of others, as will be seen below.

What's more, the nurse was not the only participant in the conversation: Officer Larsen was in the room, and he engaged in at least some of the questioning, though the trial record is not clear about how much. (The state cites a handful of transcript pages in support of its claim that "nearly all" M.G.'s statements were in response to the questions of others. App. 29. Certainly, these pages establish that other people asked questions; they do not say anything about what questions Larsen asked.) At a minimum, Larsen offered M.G. a stuffed bear to get her to clarify precisely where on her body Ramirez had touched her. (551:130). Larsen was not a medical provider, and there can be no argument that a reasonable person wouldn't view him as being engaged in securing evidence against Ramirez.

Turning to M.G.'s perspective, the state posits that she had "[no] purpose at all," App. 31, but even that unsatisfying claim is built on a couple of critical, and unsupported, assumptions. First, of course, it relies on her age, which Ramirez has discussed above. It also suggests that "having just been assaulted," M.G was facing an "emergency." *Id*. Here again, the state is engaged in telepathy. It goes further: it asserts that M.G.'s "shutting down" means she was not primarily "concerned with a future legal proceeding against her abuser." *Id*. Remarkably, the state is able to discern that she "was just coping at the time." *Id*. Still more remarkably, the state can confidently declare, without citation, that M.G. had no "righteous anger toward her abuser." App. 34.

28

Filed 05-04-2022

The state's argument, in other words, departs extravagantly from assessment of the objective facts. These facts include, again, the fact that this was an interview initiated by, and in part conducted by, a police officer. They include the fact that Ramirez was already in jail, so there was no need to determine whether M.G. could safely be returned to his care. They include the fact that the interview partly concerned an incident from the previous year. And they include the fact that as part of the interview, M.G.'s interlocutors were collecting physical evidence for the purpose of turning it over to the state.

The state's argument about M.G.'s state of mind also crucially depends on the premise that Ramirez was guilty—that he'd just assaulted M.G., causing the prevented her trauma \mathbf{it} says from making testimonial statements. The state's argument is thus circular, and depends on a presumption of guilt. What's more, it ignores the contrary evidence that the federal courts pointed out. Cynthia testified that she wanted Ramirez arrested because she was angry with him, and "that she had coached M.G. to falsely accuse Mr. Ramirez of sexual assault. A reviewing court could therefore conclude that Mrs. Ramirez caused her children to make their statements for the primary purpose of prosecution." Ramirez, 963 F.3d at 615. There could be no statements more testimonial than accusations expressly designed to bring about criminal charges.

E. Admission of the assault accusations in violation of Ramirez's right to confront his accusers was not harmless.

The state's harmless error argument stands or falls with its claim that most of the disputed statements were not testimonial. That is, it argues that if M.G.'s statements in the hospital and her brother's statements to Detective Gregory were properly admitted, then the admission of M.G.'s testimonial statements to Detective Gregory was harmless. App. 37-39. The state also suggests that the confrontation violations would be harmless as to the convictions for the 1999 incident even if M.G.'s hospital statements about that incident are testimonial. App. 39.

But as Ramirez has shown, many of M.G.'s statements in the hospital *were* testimonial including all of the most critical (from the state's perspective) statement—and so were her brother's statements to Detective Gregory. This alone defeats the state's general harmlessness argument. As the Seventh Circuit noted, "[T]he evidence against Mr. Ramirez is not overwhelming if the contested statements are excluded, particularly with respect to the November 1998 assault." *Ramirez*, 963 F.3d at 618. This is because, as the court also observed, M.G.'s out-of-court statements were the *only* evidence tying Ramirez to the alleged assault. *Id*.

Page 31 of 36

Even the state's limited claim about 1999 harmlessness vis-à-vis the incident fails. Though, as the state says, there was physical evidence, including semen and other DNA, there was also a defense theory of Ramirez's innocence that was adequate to explain this evidence: that Cynthia had fabricated the allegations and coached her children (as she said she had), and had also planted the evidence. As the federal appellate court observed:

> Mrs. Ramirez testified at trial that she fabricated the entire sexual assault accusation and coached M.G. to lie because she was angry at Mr. Ramirez. Although Mrs. Ramirez denied planting the DNA evidence, defense counsel argued that she did. Mrs. Ramirez had sex with Mr. Ramirez on the morning of the September 1999 assault, and she therefore had access to Mr. Ramirez's semen in a recently used condom. Investigators found DNA evidence in M.G.'s underwear, on toilet paper in the wastebasket, and on the outside of M.G.'s body, but they did not locate any inside of her body. Moreover, Dr. Siegel testified that M.G.'s vaginal redness was consistent with rubbing of that area. If the jury had not heard testimony concerning the contested out-of-court statements, it might have credited defense counsel's argument that Mrs. Ramirez planted the semen as part of her framing of Mr. Ramirez. Indeed, the jury demonstrated that it doubted Mrs. Ramirez's truthfulness by acquitting Mr. Ramirez on the charges of battery and false imprisonment, which were based on Mrs. Ramirez's allegations.

Id. at 619.

The state, as beneficiary of the confrontation violations, is obligated to show that they did not make a difference at Ramirez's trial to the exclusion of any reasonable doubt. Three courts have harbored such doubt; this Court should likewise decline to hold the violations harmless.

II. The exclusion of evidence about the state's immunity grant to one of its witnesses which the state admits was error—was not harmless.

The state now concedes that the circuit court had no legitimate basis to prevent Ramirez from questioning Dr. Schellpfeffer about the state's grant of immunity. As Ramirez argued below, this decision violated his right to due process. State v. Nerison, 136 Wis. 2d 37, 46, 54, 401 N.W.2d 1 (1987). But the state says it can demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that this ban on impeachment of the sole medical eyewitness to M.G.'s 1998 injuries was harmless.

The state is asserting harmless error for the first time on appeal. In the trial court, it advanced the now-abandoned argument that the court's barring of cross was proper. This Court should refuse to address the state's new assertion of harmlessness. *See State v. Brown*, 96 Wis. 2d 258, 263, 291 N.W.2d 538 (1980).

But even if it chooses to address the argument, this Court should decline to find the error harmless. The state first argues that because Dr. Schellpfeffer testified in a way generally consistent with the testimony of two other medical witnesses, he must not have been biased by the immunity grant. Then despite the fact that it is not, to Ramirez's knowledge, a medical expert—the state declares on its own authority, that the "particular ... facts" of M.G.'s injuries *compelled* Dr. Schellpfeffer to give the medical opinions that he did. App. 42-44.

Neither of the state's arguments holds water. While the state understandably wishes to portray Dr. Schellpfeffer's testimony as free of bias, we can't know whether it was: the circuit court largely prevented Ramirez from inquiring about bias. It did so completely at trial, but even at the pretrial hearing, the court intervened again and again-often at the state's behest-to prevent Ramirez from delving into how the threat might have affected Dr. Schellpfeffer. (17:5,6,7,9,10,11,12,14). And it makes no sense to say that Dr. Schellpfeffer can't have been biased because his testimony aligned with the state's expert witness— Dr. Guinn—and the other doctor the state called. That is, Dr. Schellpfeffer's testimony was about as favorable to the state as it could have been; this is not evidence of a lack of bias in the state's favor.

Nor, despite the state's rhetoric, is it competent to proclaim "the range of potential reasonable professional opinions" about M.G.'s injuries. App. 44. Once again, the state invites the Court to conclude that Dr. Schellpfeffer could not have testified any differently than he actually did, and once again, we cannot know because the state and trial court prevented Ramirez from lines of inquiry it now admits were legitimate.

At any rate, the state's argument misses the point. The question is not how Dr. Schellpfeffer might have testified had the prosecutor not threatened him and then removed the threat in exchange for his testimony; there was nothing Ramirez or the court could do to change the fact that the prosecutor had done these things. Rather, the question is whether the court's error of depriving the jury of this information meant the jury could not adequately assess Dr. Schellpfeffer's credibility, or his claims that he'd suspected sexual abuse that he did not report.

Ramirez was thus hamstrung at trial in two ways. He was unable to confront his two accusers: the only ones who claimed to have witnessed the purported abuse. And as to an important witness he could confront—the only one who could speak to M.G.'s 1998 injuries—Ramirez was forbidden to inquire about the threats the state had made, and the benefits it had conferred, for his testimony. These are independent errors, but their effects reinforced one another. Ramirez could not ask M.G. what happened in 1998; he also could not paint a complete picture of the possible bias of a crucial state's witness. His was not a full or a fair trial.

CONCLUSION

Because the circuit court correctly concluded that Ramirez's trial violated his rights to confrontation and due process, and that these violations were not harmless, Ramirez respectfully requests that this Court affirm that court's order granting a new trial.